

8 Prevention of Hepatitis A, B and C and Other Hepatotoxic Factors in People Living with HIV/AIDS

Clinical protocol for the WHO European Region



8 Prevention of Hepatitis A, B, C and other Hepatotoxic Factors in People Living with HIV/AIDS

Clinical Protocol for the WHO European Region

Edited by: Irina Eramova Srdan Matic Monique Munz

© World Health Organization 2006

All rights reserved. The Regional Office for Europe of the World Health Organization welcomes requests for permission to reproduce or translate its publications, in part or in full.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Where the designation "country or area" appears in the headings of tables, it covers countries, territories, cities, or areas. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

The World Health Organization does not warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use. The views expressed by authors or editors do not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization.

Keywords:

HEPATITIS A – PREVENTION AND CONTROL HEPATITIS B – PREVENTION AND CONTROL HEPATITIS C – PREVENTION AND CONTROL HIV INFECTIONS DISEASE TRANSMISSION – PREVENTION AND CONTROL GUIDELINES EUROPE

Address requests about publications of the WHO Regional Office for Europe to: Publications WHO Regional Office for Europe Scherfigsvej 8 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark Alternatively, complete an online request form for documentation, health information

Alternatively, complete an online request form for documentation, health information, or for permission to quote or translate, on the WHO/Europe web site at http://www.euro.who.int/pubrequests

Cover design: Sørine Hoffmann Text editing: Thomas Petruso and Misha Hoekstra Typesetting, design and production by Phoenix Design Aid A/S – Denmark Printed and bound in Denmark on environmentally friendly paper.

Table of contents

Abbreviations				
I.	Prevention strategies	8-1		
	1. Vaccination against hepatitis B and A			
	1.1 Hepatitis B			
	1.2 Hepatitis A			
	2. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission			
	2.1 PMTCT of HBV			
	2.2 PMTCT of HCV	8-4		
	3. Preventing and reducing risk of infection	8-4		
	3.1 Safer sexual behaviour	8-4		
	3.2 Reducing harm related to injecting drug use	8-4		
	4. Counselling to reduce liver-related harm	8-4		
	5. Prevention of transmission through transfusion of blood and blood products			
	6. Prevention in health care settings			
Re	ferences	8-6		

Abbreviations

Ab	antibody
AIDS	acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
ART	antiretroviral treatment
ARV	antiretroviral
CD4 cell	cluster of differentiation antigen 4 cell
HAART	highly active antiretroviral treatment
HAV	hepatitis A virus
HBcAb	hepatitis B core antibody
HBIg	hepatitis B immunoglobulin
HBsAb	hepatitis B surface antibody
HBsAg	hepatitis B surface antigen
HBV	hepatitis B virus
HCC	hepatocellular carcinoma
HCV	hepatitis C virus
HDV	hepatitis delta virus
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
IDU	injecting drug user
IU	international unit
MSM	men who have sex with men
MTCT	mother-to-child transmission
PMTCT	prevention of mother-to-child transmission
RNA	ribonucleic acid
STI	sexually transmitted infection
SW	sex worker
WHO	World Health Organization

Acknowledgements

This clinical protocol has been developed and written by Jean-Elie Malkin, Dominique Salmon-Ceron (Pasteur Institute, France), Diane Vandervliet (Pasteur Institute, France) and Irina Eramova (WHO Regional Office for Europe, Denmark). It is one of 13 clinical protocols released by the WHO Regional office for Europe in 2006 as a part of the HIV/AIDS Treatment and Care Clinical Protocols for the WHO European Region.

The editors and writing team gratefully thank the following experts who, through their participation in the WHO Technical Consultation, in collaboration with the European Monitoring Centre on Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA), on the Development of the Clinical Protocols on HIV and Hepatitis Coinfection, held in Lisbon, Portugal, 9-11 June 2005, contributed to the development of this protocol:

Muazzam Abdukadirova (Institute of Virology, Uzbekistan), Araz Aliguliev (National Narcology Dispensary, Azerbaijan), Pablo Barreiro (Hospital Carlos III, Spain), Laurent Belec (Centre de Recherches Biomédicales des Cordeliers, France), Marek Beniowski (Centre for AIDS Diagnostic and Therapy, Poland), Barbara Broers (Geneva University Hospitals, Switzerland), Patrice Cacoub (Hôpital La Pitié Salpêtrière, France), Sabine Flessenkaemper (WHO Country Office, Indonesia), Xavier Franquet (European AIDS Treatment Group, Spain), Charles Gilks (WHO Headquarters, Switzerland), Wolfgang Goetz (European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, Portugal), Dagmar Hedrich (European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, Portugal), Alexey Kravtchenko (Federal AIDS Centre, Russian Federation), Karen Lindenburg (Municipal Health Service of Amsterdam, Netherlands), Luis Mendão (Abraço, Portugal), Charles E. Millson (St. James's University Hospital, United Kingdom), Fortune Ncube (Communicable Diseases Surveillance Centre, United Kingdom), Francisco José Nunes Antunes (Hospital de Santa Maria, Portugal), Lubomir Okruhlica (Centre for Treatment of Drug Dependency, Slovakia), Igor Oliynyk (WHO Country Office, Ukraine), Igor Pchelin (People Living with HIV Movement Steps, Russian Federation), Maria Prins (Municipal Health Service of Amsterdam, Netherlands), Anne-Marie Roque-Afonso (Hôpital Paul Brousse, France), Alla Shcherbinskaya (Ukrainian AIDS Prevention Centre, Ukraine), Vladimir Shoukhov (WHO Country Office, Russian Federation), Vincent Soriano (Hospital Carlos III, Spain), Ambros Uchtenhagen (Institute for Public Health and Addiction, Switzerland), Wim Vandevelde (European AIDS Treatment Group, Portugal), Marco Vitoria (WHO Headquarters, Switzerland), Lucas Wiessing, (European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, Portugal), Alex Wodak (St. Vincent's Hospital, Australia), Vladimir Zhovtyak (All-Ukrainian Network of People Living with HIV, Ukraine)

In addition, the editors and writing team are grateful for additional technical input and comments from: Josip Begovac (University Hospital of Infectious Diseases, Croatia) and Volodimir Kurpita (WHO Country Office, Ukraine).

Special thanks go to the following people at the WHO Regional Office for Europe who contributed at various stages of production of the protocol: Bente Drachmann, Nico Kerski, Jeffrey V. Lazarus and Andrea Nelsen.

Irina Eramova, Srdan Matic and Monique Munz Sexually transmitted infections/HIV/AIDS programme WHO Regional Office for Europe

I. Prevention strategies

The strategies for limiting the spread of hepatitis include:

- vaccination against hepatitis B and A;
- prevention of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus (HBV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV);
- reducing risk of infection through safer sexual behaviour and reducing harm related to injecting drug use;
- counselling to reduce liver-related harm;
- prevention through transfusion of blood and blood products; and
- prevention in health care settings.

1. Vaccination against hepatitis B and A

1.1. Hepatitis B

All HIV patients not coinfected with HBV should be vaccinated against it. (See also Protocol 12, *Immunization of people living with HIV/AIDS and people at risk for HIV infection.*)

The schedule for HBV vaccine in HIV-infected adult patients (1, 2) is as follows:

- HBV vaccination should start with the conventional dose (20 μ g at months 0, 1 and a third time between months 6 and 12) for patients with a CD4 count >500 cells/mm³.
- In individuals with CD4 cell counts between 200 cells/mm³ and 500 cells/mm³, an intensive vaccination schedule is recommended (20 μ g at months 0, 1, 2 and 12). Patients who do not respond to this first cycle, measured by level of hepatitis B surface antibody (HBsAb) (<10 IU/ litre) should receive booster doses or start a new vaccination cycle with 40 μ g at months 0, 1, 2 and 6–12 (3).
- It is generally accepted that an adequate response to hepatitis B vaccine is the production of serum HBsAb at levels >100 IU/litre (or at least 10 IU/litre). Studies on vaccination in HIV patients have used either the 0/1/6-month or the 0/1/2/12-month hepatitis B schedule (3, 4).
- Patients with CD4 counts <200 cells/mm³ should receive antiretroviral treatment (ART) first. Vaccination should be deferred until a clinically significant immune reconstitution has been achieved, preferably after the CD4 count has increased to >200 cells/mm³.
- Compared to HIV-negative patients, those who are HIV-positive:
 - are less likely to respond to HBV vaccine;
 - have lower mean antibody titres (by a factor of about 30); and
 - lose "protective" antibody levels more quickly (40% loss in one year versus 5% loss in those who are HIV-negative).
- Routine or direct administration of booster doses is not recommended. Humoral response to HBV vaccine may decline progressively over time, and may put the patient at risk of acute infection in case of exposure. Yearly monitoring of HBsAb is recommended, and booster doses should be given when HBsAb <10 IU/litre. For further information on hepatitis B vaccine, please refer to Protocol 12, *Immunization of people living with HIV/AIDS and people at risk for HIV infection*.

Hepatitis B vaccine response correlates with CD4 count, as shown in Table 1.

TABLE 1.	Hepatitis B vaccine response at differing CD4 counts $(3,5)$		
CD4 count (c	ells/µl)	% of patients achieving HBsAb >10 IU/litre	
>500		87	
>350 with sta	ndard dose	39	
>350 with do	ubled dose	64	
<350		26ª	

^a Physicians should weigh the risk of HBV infection against the benefit of vaccination in severely immunocompromised patients.

Other adult populations at risk for HBV who should be vaccinated include:

- sexual partners of HBV carriers
- men who have sex with men (MSM)
- sex workers (SWs)
- other people with multiple sexual partners
- patients with STIs
- IDUs
- prisoners, both male and female¹
- patients on haemodialysis
- health care workers exposed to blood or blood products.

For HBV vaccination of children and use of hepatitis B immunoglobulin (HBIg), please refer to Protocol 12, *Immunization of people living with HIV/AIDS and people at risk for HIV infection*.

1.2. Hepatitis A

- All HCV/HIV- and HBV/HIV-coinfected patients who are not also coinfected with the hepatitis A virus (HAV) but are at risk for it should be vaccinated (see the risk of HAV infection and further strategies in Protocol 12, *Immunization of people living with HIV/AIDS and people at risk for HIV infection*).
- The response rate to vaccination is reduced and correlates to CD4 count.
- Mean HAV antibody titres in HIV-positive responders are about one tenth what they are in HIVnegative responders.
- Although the absolute lower limit of antibody level required to prevent HAV infection has not been established, a study using a HAV antibody (Ab) threshold of 33 mIU/litre showed the levels of response in Table 2.

TABLE 2.	HEPATITIS A VACCINE RESPONSE AT DIFFERING CD4 COUNTS (6)				
CD4	count (colle/ul)	% of patients achieving HAV Ab >33 mIU/litre			
CD4	count (cens/µ1)	Month 7	Month 9		
≥500		73	67		
200–499		53	69		
<200		11	9ª		

^a Physicians should weigh the risk of HAV infection against the benefit of vaccination in severely immunocompromised patients.

¹ Prisoners are at increased risk of HBV infection due to injecting drug use and unprotected.

- Though response to vaccination in immunocompromised patients is reduced, WHO policy is to administer vaccine regardless of CD4 level. Immunoglobulin should be administered concurrently for those with severe immunosuppression (CD4 cell count <200).
- Non-responders to HAV vaccine should be revaccinated once their CD4 count has risen in response to HAART, ideally ≥500 cells/mm³.

For HAV vaccination of children and use of hepatitis A immunoglobulin, please refer to Protocol 12, *Immunization of people living with HIV/AIDS and people at risk for HIV infection*.

There are certain contraindications that need to be kept in mind even though hepatitis A vaccine is inactivated and no special precautions are needed when vaccinating immunocompromised people.

- HAV vaccine should not be administered to patients with a history of serious allergic reaction to it.
- Vaccination of patients with moderate or severe acute illnesses should be deferred until their conditions have improved.
- The safety of HAV vaccination during pregnancy has not been determined. However, because it is an inactivated vaccine, the theoretical risk to the fetus is low. The risk associated with vaccination should be weighed against the risk of HAV infection.

2. Prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT)

2.1. PMTCT of HBV

- All HIV-infected women should be screened for hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) as a routine part of prenatal testing.
- In pregnant HBV/HIV-coinfected women who need or do not need ART for their own health, the antiretroviral (ARV) combination has to include 3TC, as it is effective against both viruses.
- The transmission rate of HBV is reduced by replication suppression; the doses and duration at which ARVs are administered should be the same as for HIV mono-infected women (see Protocol 10, *Prevention of HIV transmission from HIV-infected mothers to their infants*).
- In children born to chronically HBV-infected mothers, administration of vaccine within 12 hours after birth provides up to 95% protective efficacy (7). Since the added value of administering HBIg concurrently with hepatitis B vaccine is quite low, its benefits and cost should be considered.
- In cases in which the mother is HBsAg-positive, the neonate should receive the single-antigen HBV vaccine along with 0.5 ml of HBIg within 12 hours of birth. These children can then receive the HBV vaccine series on a normal schedule of three doses (at 0, 1 and 6 months). In neonates weighing less than 2000 g, the initial vaccine following delivery is associated with a lower rate of immunogenicity. Therefore, these children should receive four doses of HBV vaccine (at birth and 1, 2–3 and 6–7 months) (8).
- Children of HBsAg-positive mothers should undergo testing for HBsAg and HBsAb at 9 and 18 months. If the surface antibody level is less than 10 mIU/ml, the entire three-vaccine series should be repeated. Testing for hepatitis B core antibody (HBcAb) in these children is discouraged because passively acquired maternal antibodies may be detectable up to 24 months of age.
- When a woman's HBV status is still unknown at delivery but is later discovered to be positive, HBIg may be administered up to seven days after birth. In cases of unknown maternal hepatitis status among children weighing less than 2000 g at birth, physicians should administer both the HBV vaccine and immunoglobulin.
- Neonates born to HBV-negative mothers should receive their first HBV vaccination in the hospital. Neonates weighing less than 2000 g are a prominent exception to this rule. Because of the reduced immunogenicity of the HBV vaccine in this group, vaccination should be delayed until one month of age (9).

2.2. PMTCT of HCV

- HCV mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) in HIV-infected women is high (between 5% and 20%) (10). When possible, HCV treatment should be offered before pregnancy to women of childbearing age. Although several MTCT risk factors have been identified, there are currently no interventions available to prevent vertical transmission of HCV.
- Normally, elective caesarean section is advised for women who are HIV-infected as a means of preventing transmission to the infant. However, if the viral load is <1000 copies/ml, then vaginal delivery could be considered. Based on the current evidence, these same guidelines apply for women who are HCV/HIV-coinfected (*11*, *12*).
- Prevention of ribavirin embryopathy includes:
 - a pregnancy test before starting treatment and every month during treatment; and
 - counselling (of both the woman and her partner) to avoid pregnancy and use condoms while either partner is taking ribavirin and for at least six months afterwards.

3. Preventing and reducing risk of infection

3.1. Safer sexual behaviour

- All patients those in the general population as well as those in vulnerable populations (SWs, IDUs, MSM, etc.) should be counselled about safer sex and the use of condoms for any form of penetrative sex. Condoms are an effective means of preventing sexual transmission of HIV infection as well as hepatitis B and C infections.
- The sexual transmission of hepatitis A is mostly found in MSM, linked to oro-anal contact; preventive measures include using either a vertically cut condom or some plastic food wrap to cover the anal area before oral contact.

3.2. Reducing harm related to injecting drug use

- In addition to risks resulting from sexual behaviour, IDUs are vulnerable to bloodborne virus (HIV, HCV, HBV, HAV and HDV) as a result of collective use of injecting equipment. In some countries in Europe, over 70% of HIV infections are attributed to IDUs (13).
- Effective evidence-based strategies to reduce risk of HBV and HCV transmission through injecting drug practices are:
 - linking to harm-reduction programmes, particularly needle exchange and opioid substitution therapy; and
 - counselling of patients with high-risk drug and sexual practices, especially those who are seropositive, on risk reduction.

For more details, please refer to Protocol 5, HIV/AIDS treatment and care for injecting drug users

4. Counselling to reduce liver-related harm

All patients should be counselled on ways to reduce liver-related harm.

- Alcohol consumption should be stopped or reduced to no more than 10 mg/day.
- Smoking should be stopped, as it has been associated with an increased risk of hepatitis cellular carcinoma (HCC) in some studies of patients with chronic HBV disease. The effects of smoking and alcohol may be synergistic (14).
- The active component in cannabis endocannabinoid (found in both marijuana and hashish) has been found to have many physiological and patho-physiological functions. It has recently been implicated in the haemodynamic alterations occurring in cirrhosis (15).
- No dietary factors have been linked specifically to HBV disease activity or severity. However, excess iron is associated with reduced responsiveness to interferon treatment and increased risk for HCC. Thus, iron supplements should be avoided unless iron deficiency is present (16).
- Vitamin A in excessive amounts can be directly hepatotoxic; it is not recommended unless there is documented deficiency (17).

- Herbal supplements should be used with caution, if at all. Many of these preparations can be severely hepatotoxic (18), for example, chaparral, comfrey, germander, jin bu huan and kava kava. Due to a lack of regulation of supplements, formulations and doses can vary widely.
- Patients who have coexisting non-alcoholic fatty liver disease should be simultaneously counselled on:
 - optimizing body weight
 - achieving and maintaining normal triglyceride levels
 - controlling diabetes mellitus.

5. Prevention of transmission through transfusion of blood and blood products

Precautions to prevent infection through blood and blood products include:

- screening of all blood products for HBsAg and HCV Ab
- screening for HBcAb, and HCV RNA quantification²
- virus inactivation of plasma-derived products.

6. Prevention in health care settings

As it is not possible to identify all people infected with bloodborne pathogens, guidance to protect health care workers against HIV and hepatitis viruses is based on the concept that all patients should be assumed to be infectious. The application of universal precautions requires that all blood and body fluids be regarded as potentially infectious and that appropriate protective action be taken. Universal precautions include:

- infection-control practices, such as appropriate sterilization of medical and dental equipment;
- discouraging the excessive use of injections and promoting safe injection practices among health care workers; and
- strongly recommending vaccination against hepatitis B for all health care workers exposed to blood or blood products.

Prevention of hepatitis B and C transmission in health care settings is similar to prevention of HIV transmission there. For further information, please refer to Protocol 13, *Post-exposure prophylaxis for HIV infection*.

 $^{^{2}}$ Even when this screening is performed, there is still a minor risk of transmission.

References

- 1. Tedaldi E et al. Hepatitis A and B vaccination practices for ambulatory patients infected with HIV. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 2004, 38:1478–1484.
- 2. Welch K, Morse A. Improving screening and vaccination for hepatitis B in patients co-infected with HIV and hepatitis C. *American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 2002, 97:2928–2929.
- 3. Rey D et al. Increasing the number of hepatitis B vaccine injections augments anti-HBs response rate in HIV-infected patients. Effects on HIV-1 viral load. *Vaccine*, 2000, 18:1161–1165.
- 4. Vento S. Fulminant hepatitis associated with hepatitis A virus superinfection in patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Journal of Viral Hepatology*, 2000, 7 Suppl. 1:7–8.
- 5. Fonseca MO et al. Randomized trial of recombinant hepatitis B vaccine in HIV-infected adult patients comparing a standard dose to a double dose. *Vaccine*, 2005, 22:2902–2908.
- Kemper CA et al. Safety and immunogenicity of hepatitis A vaccine in human immunodeficiency virusinfected patients: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 2003, 187(8):1327–1331.
- 7. *Epidemiology and prevention of vaccine-preventable diseases* (the "pink book"), 8th ed. Atlanta, Centers for Disease Control, National Immunization Program, 2004.
- 8. Hepatitis B. In: Pickering LK, ed. 2003 *Report of the Committee on Infectious Disease* (the "red book"), 26th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL, American Academy of Pediatrics, 2003:328.
- Mast EE et al. A comprehensive immunization strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) part 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 2005, 54(RR-16):1–31.
- 10. Mast EE et al. Risk factors for perinatal transmission of hepatitis C virus (HCV) and the natural history of HCV infection acquired in infancy. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 2005, 192(11):1880–1890.
- 11. Pembreya L, Newella ML, Tovob PA. The management of HCV-infected pregnant women and their children (European Paediatric HCV Network). *Journal of Hepatology*, 2005, 43(3): 515–525.
- 12. Ferrero S et al. HIV-HCV co-infection during pregnancy. Minerva Ginecologica, 2005, 57(6):627-635.
- 13. Nardone A. Transmission of HIV/AIDS in Europe continuing. *Eurosurveillance*, 2005, 10(11) (http://www.eurosurveillance.org/ew/2005/051124.asp#1, accessed 16 February 2006).
- 14. Yu M, et al. Prospective study of hepatocarcinoma and liver cirrhosis in asymptomatic chronic hepatitis B virus carriers. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 1997, 145:1039.
- 15. Gabbay E et al. Endocannabinoids and liver disease: a review. *Liver International*, 2005, 25(5):921–926.
- 16. Mandishona E et al. Dietary iron overload as a risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma in black Africans. *Hepatology*, 1998, 27:1563–1566.
- 17. Shintaku T et al. Hepatic histopathology of a vitamin A overdose in mouse liver. *Journal of Electron Microscopy*, 1998, 47(3):263–267.
- 18. Estes JD et al. High prevalence of potentially hepatotoxic herbal supplement use in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. *Archives of Surgery*, 2003, 138(8):852–858.